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Introduction

The author was asked by Reay DG Clarke of Edderton Farm, Edderton, Tain, Easter Ross, to carry out an archaeological assessment of the area of the Edderton Burn Glen and Edderton Hill Forest Plan. The object of the assessment was to identify and record all archaeological features or areas of potential archaeological interest within the forest area, to assess the possible impact of activity within the forest area on the archaeological record, and to recommend mitigation measures to protect features.

 It was recognized that as the planting and felling of timber had been underway in the Edderton Burn Glen since 1956, and extensive clearing and ploughing of fields on the Edderton Hill since 1953, followed in 1989 by planting under the Forestry Commission’s Farm Woodland Scheme, a great part of the visible archaeological record has already been removed. While all known sites, even where all visible traces have been removed, have been recorded in this assessment, emphasis is given to measures to protect and enhance the remaining visible features. 

It is noted that the Hill of Edderton Community Project aims to promote the history of the former crofting community, particularly by maintaining the croft house sites and by improving access, information and other facilities for walkers. The author is satisfied that the implementation of the proposals of the Community Project will provide protection for the archaeological features while integrating their care into the development of the forest area as a working and recreational area.

Method

The author is grateful to Reay Clarke for providing the greater part of the historical and archaeological background to the assessment. Further information on the history of the area was obtained from documents and maps in the Highland Archive in Inverness. The Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council in Inverness provided details of previously recorded archaeological sites within or adjacent to the survey area. This was followed by a rapid walk-over survey, carried out on 2.5.01 in generally clear and dry weather conditions.

Topography

The area around Edderton village is a fertile coastal strip of arable fields, facing NE over the Dornoch Firth and bounded to NW and SE by the steeply rising slopes of the Struie Hill and Edderton Hill, while rising gently to moorland to the SW. The Edderton Burn is one of several NE-flowing burns cutting across the arable fields, a former meltwater channel some 2km long, while the area of Edderton Hill covered by this assessment is steep and north facing, rising over 1km from 30m to 200m above sea level. At present it is bordered to south and east by mature coniferous plantation.

Archaeological Background

The only archaeological features within the area of the assessment previously noted on the Sites and Monuments Record have been taken from a desk-based assessment of features on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, with the exception of the croft house called Teenie Lachie’s, which is a B Listed Building. However, the wider Edderton area is rich in archaeological features from all periods from the Neolithic to the Pictish. There is a Neolithic chambered cairn immediately on the other side of the Red Burn, within the former crofting township, while the Edderton Church, with its collection of important Pictish carved stones, lies on the west bank of the Edderton Burn, 500m north of the survey area.

Historical Background

The Hill of Edderton was probably established as a crofting community around the end of the 18th century, there is no evidence to suggest that it was settled before the major agrarian reorganization of this time, which removed small tenants to less favoured land such as the Hill and Bogrow, leaving the lower arable land to be laid out as modern farms, with integrated water management powering meal mills and threshing machines mills, and providing grain for the neighbouring distillery (Balblair Distillery, established in 1790)

It is believed locally that the Hill of Edderton provided a home for some of the tenants evicted from Glencalvie in 1845. This may be the case, but contemporary accounts of these evictions mention only one old man and his family being given a house and a small lot of land in Edderton.

From what appears to have been an original eight holdings, on both sides of the Red Burn, the holdings appear to have slowly become vacant until only one tenant, Alexander Ross ‘Lachie’ is recorded for 1938. He and his sister Teenie left around 1953. For the next twenty years, most of the old arable land was ploughed and re-seeded and the hill was grazed with cattle and sheep from Edderton Mains. It was at this time that some of the old croft houses on the lower slopes were completely removed. In 1989, planting began under the Forestry Commission’s Farm Woodland Scheme.

The Archaeological Survey

The following archaeological features were recorded during the survey. Those which have been previously recorded on the Highland Council’s Sites and Monuments Record have their SMR no. noted after the grid reference. 

Edderton Burn Glen

G1. Dam (site of) at NH 7149 8415 There is now no trace of this feature, which was demolished over 50 years ago. This dam is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, and was part of the extension of the lade from the meal mill (G2) to a threshing mill at Edderton Farm steading

G2. Meal Mill at NH 7134 8395 The site of the mill has been cut across by the present track. South of the lade, only the SW corner remains of a building, while north of the lade an existing retaining wall may be part of the original buildings. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map shows only buildings to the north of the lade. The mill house and steading are inhabited and not part of the woodland scheme.

G3. Mill lade from NH 7133 8395 to NH 7109 8354.This lade originally carried water 500m from the Edderton Burn to the mill (G2 and on for a further 300m to the Edderton farm steading. The intake on the burn is no longer visible and is considered to have washed away during floods after the Forestry Commission ploughed the hill in the 1950s. The lade is visible in sections as a dry channel approximately 1.3m. wide at the present base and 1.5m deep (Photo no. 1) and running above the present track (Photo no.2) Originally two sections were carried on wooden boxes over low ground, and a sluice mechanism diverted the water at 90º down the slope to the meal mill. None of these structures have survived.

G4. Upper Mill (site of) at NH 7089 8336  There is no trace of any structure at this site, and it is uncertain whether it was located at the top of the glen, which is very steep at this point, or at the bottom by the river. It is thought to have been a woollen mill. There is no trace on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map.

G5. Upper Mill Lade from NH 7089 8336 to NH 7075 8288 This can be followed in sections as a shallow dry channel (Photo no.3) the most visible section being just south of the possible mill site (G4). It originally carried water for 500m from the Edderton Burn, and was also fed by a small burn below Milton croft (G7)

G6. Scholars’ Footbridge at NH 7082 8295 Of steel and concrete slab construction (Photo no.4) This was built in c1950 by Ross and Cromarty County Council to replace an earlier wooden footbridge on the same site, to facilitate the pupils’ from Bogrow crofts journey to school.

G7. Croft House at NH 7067 8294 The rubble remains of a building, aligned ENE-WSW and measuring 12.8m by 3.4m, with an extension 4m. long to the ENE. The ENE gable of the main building is the best preserved, with four courses of stonework and no fireplace. An enclosure is attached to the WNW wall (Photo no.5) A massive pile of stones to the east of the building is recent field clearance. This croft was occupied by George Ross and family who moved, or were removed, to the Tin House on the Hill of Edderton in the late 1800s and the house can be presumed to have been abandoned at that date. The buildings are in the same layout as on the 1st edition OS map.

G8. Dam at NH 7035 8302 This site is outwith the survey area but is noted as part of the system of water management in the Glen. The site of a dam on a now dry water course, visible as a patch of gorse on the field boundary (Photo no. 6) with a lade leading NE to a pond then down to the site of the woollen mill (G4) This lade was visible as a shallow indentation until the field was ploughed in the 1950s One short section is marked on the 1st edition OS map.

G9. Sheep Fank and Dip (site of) at NH 7135 8384 There is no trace of this demolished feature. It was erected by C.S. Knight, proprietor of Edderton Mains c1920-47, and became obsolete when a new fank was built at Seafield. It is marked on the present Pathfinder Ordnance Survey map.

G10. Field Clearance Boulders from NH 7136 8372 to NH 7095 8330 Within the woodland scheme are small areas of former arable fields above the Glen to the east. These were added to the woodlands in the 1960s when boundary fences were laid out to give straight edges to the farmland. The original boundaries of the arable land are marked by a consumption dyke of granite boulders cleared from the fields. Many still show the groove left from a hole being drilled for black powder to split the boulder in situ for ease of removal. (Black powder was an explosive available for the past 200 years)

Hill of Edderton

H1. NoSWA Edderton Water Supply: Keeper’s Reservoir at NH 7180 8295

                                                             Coul Reservoir at NH 7218 8368

                                                             Coul Pumping Station at NH 7232 8382

These installations and their connecting pipelines are still in use but are included in this report to explain their effect on the landscape and for future reference when these structures have become obsolete.

H2. Water tank “Catley’s” at NH 7155 8335 A concrete, roofed, rectangular tank fed from a spring 400m to the south. This was built by Charles Catley c1890 to supply the newly-built Edderton House (Photo no. 7)

H3. Croft House at NH 7221 8377 The remains of a building on a levelled platform below the present fence. The building is aligned roughly ENE-WSW and only the NW wall is standing. This section of wall is angled slightly and demonstrates two different building styles, suggesting two periods of building. The eastern section, aligned ENE-WSW, is neatly coursed, alternating courses of large squared boulders with smaller, flat stones, a building style probably dating to the 1840s on. The western section, aligned just off E-W, is built of rougher, rounder stones, with boulder footings. This would appear to be an earlier building style. The 1st edition OS map marks two wells to the SW of the house. The bank here is steep and the drainage disturbed, but there is a patch of standing water with stones which may be the remains of one of these wells. This croft appears not to have been a part of the crofting township of the Hill of Edderton, as the tenant in 1895, W. Fiddes, is not listed as a tenant in the township. It may have been considered part of Coul, of which there is still one inhabited building to the NE.

H4. Building at NH 7208 8359 The footings of this building are grass-covered, with little stone visible. It measures 3m. by 13.5m and is aligned ENE-WSW. (Photo no.8) Within the area of the building are several trees, planted or self-seeded, as well as raspberries and broom. The 1st edition OS map marks this building as having an enclosure attached to the south, and an unroofed small building to the NE, a track leading to the house from the north and a well beside this track. None of these features are now visible, and can be presumed to have been ploughed out.

H5. Building at NH 7229 8364 This is marked on the 1st edition OS map as one small, square, roofed building. This was not located and can be presumed to have been ploughed out.

H6. Building at NH 7246 8357 This is marked on the 1st edition OS map as a rectangular, roofed, building aligned ENE-WSW, with an unroofed extension on the WSW gable and a small square building to the west. There is now no trace of these structures, but there is a pile of stones below the track which may represent the cleared remains.

H7. Buildings (site of) at NH 7257 8364 Red Burn Farmstead, SMR no. NH78SW0054 marked on the 1st edition OS map as a group consisting of one unroofed building of three compartments, aligned NNE-SSW, and two small, square, roofed buildings to its east, on either side of an enclosure. There is now no trace of these structures, and they can be presumed to have been completely cleared away during the extension of arable land.

H8. Building at NH 7262 8359 Red Burn Farmstead? SMR no. NH78SW0053 Marked on the 1st edition OS map as a T-shaped, roofless building, aligned NE-SW. At this location is a massive pile of field clearance boulders which may lie on the footings of the original building, measuring approximately 9m by 5m.                             (Photo no.9)

H9. Croft House at NH 7232 8338 Marked on the 1st edition OS map as one L-shaped, roofed building, aligned ENE-WSW, with a square enclosure attached. Immediately to the south is another, smaller, roofed building with a small enclosure. This is described by RDG Clarke as Hugh MacKenzie’s, the tenant in 1895. At this location are the rough rubble remains of one building of two compartments, measuring approximately 9m.by 3m. and standing generally three courses high. (Photo no. 17) There are no other visible traces of ruins, and it is not clear which of the two original buildings this is.

H10. Croft House at NH 7264 8340 marked on the 1st edition OS map as a small rectangular, roofed building, aligned NE-SW, with a detached annexe to the SW and an attached enclosure to the NW. This is described by RDG Clarke as the original croft house inhabited by George Ross after his removal from the Mill Croft, and presumably became redundant around 1920 with the construction of the Tin House (H11) The visible remains consist of one main building, measuring approximately 8m by 4m, the back, NW wall being made doubly thick by a substantial buttress running its entire length (Photo no.12). There are annexes or byres attached to both gables of this main building and an enclosure to the north marked by low grass-covered dykes. Another dyke or bank south of the building extends west to a pond of relatively recent construction.      (Photo no. 11)
H11. Croft House “the Tin House” at NH 7266 8340 Constructed by George Ross (Geordie Redburn) around 1920. This is a well-preserved croft house apart from damage to the doorway. It has dressed stone quoins, window and fireplace surrounds, a tin roof, chimney pots, and lath and plaster interior walls and ceiling.                       (Photo no. 10)
H12. Croft House at NH 7266 8331 Marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map as a rectangular, roofed building aligned N-S with an enclosure attached to the W. and described by RDG Clarke as being tenanted by Alexander Ross ‘MacFarquhar’ in 1895. This is visible as the partly grass-covered footings of a building of two compartments, measuring in total approximately 17m, and an enclosure, defined by low grassy banks, slightly raised above mean ground level and measuring approximately 9m by 13.5m. (Photo no. 13)

H13. Enclosure at NH 723 832, SMR no. NH78SW0048 This is marked on the 1st edition OS map as a square enclosure with an entrance to the NE. This was not located within a sitka spruce plantation

H14. Croft House “Teenie Lachie’s” at NH 7257 8303, SMR no. NH78SW0030, Listed B The original house was constructed around 1843. Around 1900, the then landowner, Charles Catley added the steading, and the original thatch was replaced by corrugated tin roofing. Tenanted by Donald Ross ‘Lachie’ in 1895, it was last occupied by Alec Ross and his sister Teenie, and was probably abandoned around 1953. The whole L-shaped building is uniformly roofed in tin; on the older building turfs have been inserted to build up the wall and allow for a higher roof. The interior of the original house is in good condition, with two pairs of cruck frames and sections of wattle and daub type covering to the partitions, as well as several different later phases of internal improvement. The furnishings of the steading are mostly intact.                                                 (Photo no.14)

H15. Croft House at NH 7237 8296 Marked on the 1st edition OS map as a long, roofed building aligned ENE-WSW, with a detached enclosure to its SW. RDG Clarke describes the tenant in 1895 as David Ross ‘MacAndrew’ This is visible as the ruinous footings of a house, approximately 17m in length, with an extension or attached second house to the east. The original house is reduced to grassy footings, but the SE corner, sharing a gable with the later building, shows dressed quoins (Photo no.15 and 16) The second building is better preserved but of rougher construction. One cruck groove is visible, and a doorway offset west of centre in the south facing wall. The east gable is reinforced with rubble buttressing. The walls of the enclosure to the SW are well preserved.

H16  Clach na Saobhaidhe, Granite Erratic Boulder  at NH 7202 8297 This is not an archaeological feature, but a former picnic site, used since 1930 or earlier.

H17 Dykes: Within the survey area, two sections of turf dyke and two sections of clearance dyke were noted: 1. at NH 7218 8302 The corner of two remaining sections of dyke originally enclosing an area 800m by 600m on the western slope of the Edderton Hill. This field is marked on the 1st edition OS map

                                             2. at NH 7198 8331, a section of turf dyke curving from NE to S. Possibly the remains of dykes built to keep stock off the township arable land during summer.

                                             3. at NH 7233 8333 a line of field clearance boulders running NNE-SSW. This marks the boundary between arable and hill land as defined on the 1st edition OS map.

                                             4. at NH 7245 8303 a line of field clearance boulders running E-W. This corresponds with the boundary of arable land as marked on the present pathfinder map, but not the 1st edition OS map

H18 Trackways: Of all the present trackways crossing the area of the survey only four appear to have survived from the 19th century or earlier:

                                             1. at NH 7267 8391 This short section of track, running above the present road, is said to have been the original road pre-dating Telford’s. It seems more likely to have been the road connecting Redburn and the Coul crofts, originally continuing all the way to Bogrow.

                                             2. at NH 7257 8376 This road originally ran from Seafield on the main road to the top of the Edderton Hill township but now goes no further than the crossing on the Red Burn to the crofts to the east.

                                             3. at NH 7243 8358. This is no longer in use as a track but is visible as such. It is marked on the 1st edition OS map as running NW-SE, connecting the croft house, H6, with its arable fields.

                                              4. at NH 7220 8306 cart track to peat cuttings. This does not appear to correspond with tracks as marked on the 1st edition OS map, so presumably dates to later than the 1870s. 

H19 Horse Trough at NH 7269 8393 This is a hollowed block of red sandstone (Photo no. 18) standing by the road., overgrown with grasses which unfortunately are causing the stone to flake. It was supposedly made on the instructions of the minister of Edderton who could no longer water his horse after Telford built the bridges over the Red Burn and Edderton Burn.

Recommendations

The following proposals are noted from the Hill of Edderton Community Project:

The aims of the project are:

1. Care of the old crofting sites (clear round croft house sites, cut grass at these sites, create flowered meadows by a rotation of cropping with oats and grass)

2. Improve facilities for walkers (convert Tin House to shelter…)

Works which should be considered:

Phase 1.  1st April 2001 until 31st March 2002

1. Care of croft sites:

1.1 Clear trees back from Macleod’s, Aich’s and Dearg’s croft sites (and long cairn)

1.2 Level areas of some 25m radius around all croft sites, sow grass seeds and thereafter cut annually in August. Plant a few rowans at each croft site and flowering shrubs in former croft gardens

1.3 Plough up one meadow each year…

1.4 Continue to cut meadows, which are not ploughed up.

2. Care of walkers:

2.1 Make Tin House wind and water tight; fit new windows, lay beaten earth floor. (to be a shelter with seats for walkers. Prepare information leaflet on history and the future of Hill of Edderton. Exhibit maps, photos and text in Tin House

Phase 2. 1st April 2002 until 31st March 2003

1. For care of croft sites

1.1 Continue to crop croft fields in rotation ….followed by 3 years’ grass

1.2 Clear and restore 2 croft sites at Clach an t-Sealgair  (outwith survey area)

The following recommendations are made to supplement these proposals:

1. The following sites noted in the archaeological assessment should form the list of croft sites, or other structures, where trees should be cleared back, grass seeds sown and grass cut annually:

H2.  Catley’s Water Tank

H3. Croft House (W. Fiddes)

H4.  Building

H8.  Building?

H9.  Croft House (Hugh MacKenzie)

H10.Croft House (George Ross)

H12.Croft House (Alexander Ross ‘MacFarquhar’)

H15.Croft House (David Ross ‘MacAndrew’)

2. The following sites are considered to have been completely removed, and no measures need be taken to protect them:

G1.  Dam

G4.  Upper mill

G9.  Sheep fank and Dip

H5.  Building

H6.  Building

H7.  Buildings

3. The following sites, which are within mature forestry, should be protected from damage during any future logging operations, by ensuring that any contractors are aware of their presence and adjust access and felling plans accordingly:

G2.  Meal Mill

G3.  Mill Lade

G5.  Upper Mill Lade

G10. Field Clearance boulders

H13. Enclosure

4. The following features are considered to be unlikely to be adversely affected by any implementation of the Forest Plan, so no specific recommendations are given for their protection, although they should betaken into consideration at any future planning stage:

G7.    Milton Croft House

G8.    Dam

H16.  Clach na Saobhaidhe, picnic site.

H19.  Horse trough

5. The following linear features; tracks and dykes, should where practical, have any existing trees cleared back and be protected from any future planting. The trackways, where this has not already been done, should be incorporated into the existing network of foot[paths:

H17.  Dykes

H18.  Trackways

6. The two standing houses, the Tin House (H11) and Teenie Lachie’s (H14) are already incorporated into the development plan for the scheme, and it is not felt necessary to add any further recommendations.

Catherine Dagg

25.5.01

